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CHIEF JUSTICE REHNQUIST delivered the opinion of the
Court.

In this case we first address whether an order compel-
ling arbitration and dismissing a party’s underlying
claims is a “final decision with respect to an arbitration”
within the meaning of §16 of the Federal Arbitration Act,
9 U. S. C. §16, and thus is immediately appealable pursu-
ant to that Act.  Because we decide that question in the
affirmative, we also address the question whether an
arbitration agreement that does not mention arbitration
costs and fees is unenforceable because it fails to affirma-
tively protect a party from potentially steep arbitration
costs.  We conclude that an arbitration agreement’s silence
with respect to such matters does not render the agree-
ment unenforceable.

I
Respondent Larketta Randolph purchased a mobile

home from Better Cents Home Builders, Inc., in Opelika,
Alabama.  She financed this purchase through petitioners
Green Tree Financial Corporation and its wholly owned
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subsidiary, Green Tree Financial Corp.-Alabama.  Peti-
tioners’ Manufactured Home Retail Installment Contract
and Security Agreement required that Randolph buy
Vendor’s Single Interest insurance, which protects the
vendor or lienholder against the costs of repossession in
the event of default.  The agreement also provided that all
disputes arising from, or relating to, the contract, whether
arising under case law or statutory law, would be resolved
by binding arbitration.1

Randolph later sued petitioners, alleging that they
violated the Truth in Lending Act (TILA), 15 U. S. C.
§1601 et seq., by failing to disclose as a finance charge the
Vendor’s Single Interest insurance requirement.  She later
amended her complaint to add a claim that petitioners
violated the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, 15 U. S. C.
— — — — — —

1 The arbitration provision states in pertinent part: “All disputes,
claims, or controversies arising from or relating to this Contract or the
relationships which result from this Contract, or the validity of this
arbitration clause or the entire contract, shall be resolved by binding
arbitration by one arbitrator selected by Assignee with consent of
Buyer(s).  This arbitration Contract is made pursuant to a transaction
in interstate commerce, and shall be governed by the Federal Arbitra-
tion Act at 9 U. S. C. Section 1.  Judgment upon the award rendered
may be entered in any court having jurisdiction.  The parties agree and
understand that they choose arbitration instead of litigation to resolve
disputes.  The parties understand that they have a right or opportunity
to litigate disputes through a court, but that they prefer to resolve their
disputes through arbitration, except as provided herein.  THE
PARTIES VOLUNTARILY AND KNOWINGLY WAIVE ANY RIGHT
THEY HAVE TO A JURY TRIAL EITHER PURSUANT TO
ARBITRATION UNDER THIS CLAUSE OR PURSUANT TO A
COURT ACTION BY ASSIGNEE (AS PROVIDED HEREIN).  The
parties agree and understand that all disputes arising under case law,
statutory law, and all other laws, including, but not limited to, all
contract, tort, and property disputes will be subject to binding arbitra-
tion in accord with this Contract.  The parties agree and understand
that the arbitrator shall have all powers provided by the law and the
Contract.”  See Joint Lodging 37.
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§§1691–1691f, by requiring her to arbitrate her statutory
causes of action.  She brought this action on behalf of a
similarly situated class.  In lieu of an answer, petitioners
filed a motion to compel arbitration, to stay the action, or,
in the alternative, to dismiss.  The District Court granted
petitioners’ motion to compel arbitration, denied the mo-
tion to stay, and dismissed Randolph’s claims with preju-
dice.  The District Court also denied her request to certify
a class.  991 F. Supp. 1410 (MD Ala. 1997).  She requested
reconsideration, asserting that she lacked the resources to
arbitrate and as a result, would have to forgo her claims
against petitioners.  See Plaintiff’s Motion for Reconsid-
eration, Record Doc. No. 53, p. 9.  The District Court de-
nied reconsideration.  991 F. Supp., at 1425–1426.
Randolph appealed.

The Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit first held
that it had jurisdiction to review the District Court’s order
because that order was a final decision.  178 F. 3d 1149
(1999).  The Court of Appeals looked to §16 of the Federal
Arbitration Act (FAA), 9 U. S. C. §16, which governs ap-
peal from a District Court’s arbitration order, and specifi-
cally §16(a)(3), which allows appeal from “a final decision
with respect to an arbitration that is subject to this title.”
The Court determined that a final, appealable order
within the meaning of the FAA is one that disposes of all
the issues framed by the litigation, leaving nothing to be
done but execute the order.  The Court of Appeals found
the District Court’s order within that definition.

The court then determined that the arbitration agree-
ment failed to provide the minimum guarantees that
respondent could vindicate her statutory rights under the
TILA.  Critical to this determination was the court’s ob-
servation that the arbitration agreement was silent with
respect to payment of filing fees, arbitrators’ costs, and
other arbitration expenses.  On that basis, the court held
that the agreement to arbitrate posed a risk that respon-
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dent’s ability to vindicate her statutory rights would be
undone by “steep” arbitration costs, and therefore was
unenforceable.  We granted certiorari, 529 U. S. 1052
(2000), and we now affirm the Court of Appeals with
respect to the first conclusion, and reverse it with respect
to the second.

II
Section 16 of the Federal Arbitration Act, enacted in

1988, governs appellate review of arbitration orders.  9
U. S. C. §16.  It provides:

“(a) An appeal may be taken from—
“(1) an order—

“(A) refusing a stay of any action under section 3
of this title,

“(B) denying a petition under section 4 of this title
to order arbitration to proceed,

“(C) denying an application under section 206 of
this title to compel arbitration,

“(D) confirming or denying confirmation of an
award or partial award, or

“(E) modifying, correcting, or vacating an award;
“(2) an interlocutory order granting, continuing, or

modifying an injunction against an arbitration that
is subject to this title; or

“(3) a final decision with respect to an arbitration
that is subject to this title.

“(b) Except as otherwise provided in section 1292(b) of
title 28, an appeal may not be taken from an interlocu-
tory order—

“(1) granting a stay of any action under section 3 of
this title;

“(2) directing arbitration to proceed under section 4
of this title;

“(3) compelling arbitration under section 206 of this
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title; or
“(4) refusing to enjoin an arbitration that is subject

to this title.”
The District Court’s order directed that arbitration

proceed and dismissed respondent’s claims for relief.  The
question before us, then, is whether that order can be
appealed as “a final decision with respect to an arbitra-
tion” within the meaning of §16(a)(3).  Petitioners urge us
to hold that it cannot.  They rely, in part, on the FAA’s
policy favoring arbitration agreements and its goal of
“mov[ing] the parties to an arbitrable dispute out of court
and into arbitration as quickly and easily as possible.”
Moses H. Cone Memorial Hospital v. Mercury Constr. Corp.,
460 U. S. 1, 22, (1983); id., at 24.  In accordance with that
purpose, petitioners point out, §16 generally permits
immediate appeal of orders hostile to arbitration, whether
the orders are final or interlocutory, but bars appeal of
interlocutory orders favorable to arbitration.

Section 16(a)(3), however, preserves immediate appeal
of any “final decision with respect to an arbitration,” re-
gardless of whether the decision is favorable or hostile to
arbitration.  And as petitioners and respondent agree, the
term “final decision” has a well-developed and longstand-
ing meaning.  It is a decision that “ ‘ends the litigation on
the merits and leaves nothing more for the court to do but
execute the judgment.’ ”  Digital Equipment Corp. v. Desk-
top Direct, Inc., 511 U. S. 863, 867 (1994), and Coopers &
Lybrand v. Livesay, 437 U. S. 463, 467 (1978), (quoting
Catlin v. United States, 324 U. S. 229, 233 (1945)).  See also
St. Louis, I. M. & S. R. Co. v. Southern Express Co., 108
U. S. 24, 28–29 (1883).  Because the FAA does not define “a
final decision with respect to an arbitration” or otherwise
suggest that the ordinary meaning of “final decision” should
not apply, we accord the term its well-established meaning.
See Evans v. United States, 504 U. S. 255, 259–260 (1992).
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The District Court’s order directed that the dispute be
resolved by arbitration and dismissed respondent’s claims
with prejudice, leaving the court nothing to do but execute
the judgment.  That order plainly disposed of the entire
case on the merits and left no part of it pending before the
court.  The FAA does permit parties to arbitration agree-
ments to bring a separate proceeding in a district court to
enter judgment on an arbitration award once it is made (or
to vacate or modify it), but the existence of that remedy
does not vitiate the finality of the District Court’s resolu-
tion of the claims in the instant proceeding.  9 U. S. C. §§9,
10, 11.  The District Court’s order was therefore “a final
decision with respect to an arbitration” within the mean-
ing of §16(a)(3), and an appeal may be taken.2  See Sears,
Roebuck & Co. v. Mackey, 351 U. S. 427, 431 (1956) (ex-
plaining that had the District Court dismissed all the claims
in an action, its decision would be final and appealable);
Catlin, supra, at 236 (noting that had petitioners’ motion
to dismiss been granted and a judgment of dismissal
entered, “clearly there would have been an end of the
litigation and appeal would lie . . .”).

Petitioners contend that the phrase “final decision” does
not include an order compelling arbitration and dismissing
the other claims in the action, when that order occurs in
an “embedded” proceeding, such as this one.  Brief for
Petitioners 26.  “Embedded” proceedings are simply those
actions involving both a request for arbitration and other
claims for relief.  “Independent” proceedings, by contrast,
are actions in which a request to order arbitration is the
sole issue before the court.  Those Courts of Appeals at-
taching significance to this distinction hold that an order
— — — — — —

2 Had the District Court entered a stay instead of a dismissal in this
case, that order would not be appealable.  9 U. S. C. §16(b)(1).  The
question whether the District Court should have taken that course is
not before us, and we do not address it.
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compelling arbitration in an “independent” proceeding is
final within the meaning of §16(a)(3), but that such an
order in an “embedded” proceeding is not, even if the
district court dismisses the remaining claims.3  Petitioners
contend that the distinction between independent and
embedded proceedings and its consequences for finality
were so firmly established at the time of §16’s enactment
that we should assume Congress meant to incorporate
them into §16(a)(3).  See Brief for Petitioners 23–26.

We disagree.  It does not appear that, at the time of
§16(a)(3)’s enactment, the rules of finality were firmly
established in cases like this one, where the District Court
both ordered arbitration and dismissed the remaining
claims.4  We also note that at that time, Courts of Appeals
did not have a uniform approach to finality with respect to
orders directing arbitration in “embedded” proceedings.5

— — — — — —
3 The majority of Courts of Appeals have so opined, contrary to the

instant decision of the Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit.  See,
e.g., Seacoast Motors of Salisbury, Inc. v. Chrysler Corp., 143 F. 3d 626,
628–629 (CA1 1998); Altman Nursing, Inc. v. Clay Capital Corp., 84
F. 3d 769, 771 (CA5 1996); Napleton v. General Motors Corp., 138 F. 3d
1209, 1212 (CA7 1998); Gammaro v. Thorp Consumer Discount Co., 15
F. 3d 93, 95 (CA8 1994); McCarthy v. Providential Corp., 122 F. 3d
1242, 1244 (CA9 1997).  But see Arnold v. Arnold Corp.— Printed
Communications for Business, 920 F. 2d 1269, 1276 (CA6 1990) (order
compelling arbitration in an “embedded” proceeding treated as a final
judgment when the District Court dismissed the action in deference to
arbitration and had nothing left to do but execute the judgment);
Armijo v. Prudential Insurance Co. of America, 72 F. 3d 793, 797 (CA10
1995) (same).

4 Seacoast Motors of Salisbury, Inc., supra, at 628 (noting in 1998
that the Court had not before addressed the question whether a district
court order directing arbitration and dismissing the proceedings was a
“final decision” within the meaning of §16(a)(3)); Napleton, supra, at
1212 (noting in 1998 that the appeal at issue adds an “unfamiliar
ingredient” because the District Court ordered arbitration and dis-
missed the proceedings).

5 Cincinnati Gas & Electric Co. v. Benjamin F. Shaw Co., 706 F. 2d
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The term “final decision,” by contrast, enjoys a consistent
and longstanding interpretation.  Certainly the plain
language of the statutory text does not suggest that Con-
gress intended to incorporate the rather complex inde-
pendent/embedded distinction, and its consequences for
finality, into §16(a)(3).  We therefore conclude that where,
as here, the District Court has ordered the parties to
proceed to arbitration, and dismissed all the claims before
it, that decision is “final” within the meaning of §16(a)(3),
and therefore appealable.

III
We now turn to the question whether Randolph’s

agreement to arbitrate is unenforceable because it says
nothing about the costs of arbitration, and thus fails to
provide her protection from potentially substantial costs of
pursuing her federal statutory claims in the arbitral fo-
rum.  Section 2 of the FAA provides that “[a] written
provision in any maritime transaction or a contract evi-
dencing a transaction involving commerce to settle by
arbitration a controversy thereafter arising out of such
contract . . . shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable,
— — — — — —
155, 158 (CA6 1983) (rejecting the argument that because a declaratory
judgment and other relief was sought in suit where arbitration was
ordered, order to arbitrate should not be appealable); Howard Elec. and
Mechanical Co. v. Frank Briscoe Co., 754 F. 2d 847, 849 (CA9 1985)
(plaintiff brought suit for work performed under contract and then
sought arbitration; order compelling arbitration held appealable).  Cf.
In re Hops Antitrust Litigation, 832 F. 2d 470, 472–473 (CA8 1987)
(District Court order requiring arbitration of some claims before it is
not a final appealable order because other matters remained pending
before the court); County of Durham v. Richards & Assocs., Inc., 742
F. 2d 811, 813, n. 3 (CA4 1984) (noting that a number of Courts of
Appeals have held that an order compelling arbitration may be ap-
pealed even when it is entered in the course of a dispute over the
underlying claim).  See generally C. Wright, A. Miller & E. Cooper,
Federal Practice and Procedure §3914.17, p. 19–25 (1992).
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save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the
revocation of any contract.”  9 U. S. C. §2.  In considering
whether respondent’s agreement to arbitrate is unenforce-
able, we are mindful of the FAA’s purpose “to reverse the
longstanding judicial hostility to arbitration agreements
. . . and to place arbitration agreements upon the same
footing as other contracts.”  Gilmer v. Interstate/Johnson
Lane Corp., 500 U. S. 20, 24 (1991).

 In light of that purpose, we have recognized that fed-
eral statutory claims can be appropriately resolved
through arbitration, and we have enforced agreements to
arbitrate that involve such claims.  See, e.g., Rodriguez de
Quijas v. Shearson/American Express, Inc., 490 U. S. 477
(1989) (Securities Act of 1933); Shearson/American Express
Inc. v. McMahon, 482 U. S. 220 (1987) (Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 and Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organi-
zations Act); Mitsubishi Motors Corp. v. Soler Chrys-
ler-Plymouth, Inc., 473 U. S. 614 (1985) (Sherman Act).  We
have likewise rejected generalized attacks on arbitration
that rest on “suspicion of arbitration as a method of weak-
ening the protections afforded in the substantive law to
would-be complainants.”  Rodriguez de Quijas, supra, at
481.  These cases demonstrate that even claims arising
under a statute designed to further important social policies
may be arbitrated because “ ‘so long as the prospective
litigant effectively may vindicate [his or her] statutory
cause of action in the arbitral forum,’ ” the statute serves
its functions.  See Gilmer, supra, at 28 (quoting Mitsubi-
shi, supra, at 637).

In determining whether statutory claims may be arbi-
trated, we first ask whether the parties agreed to submit
their claims to arbitration, and then ask whether Con-
gress has evinced an intention to preclude a waiver of
judicial remedies for the statutory rights at issue.  See
Gilmer, supra, at 26; Mitsubishi, supra, at 628.  In this
case, it is undisputed that the parties agreed to arbitrate
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all claims relating to their contract, including claims
involving statutory rights.  Nor does Randolph contend
that the TILA evinces an intention to preclude a waiver of
judicial remedies.  She contends instead that the arbitra-
tion agreement’s silence with respect to costs and fees
creates a “risk” that she will be required to bear prohibi-
tive arbitration costs if she pursues her claims in an arbi-
tral forum, and thereby forces her to forgo any claims she
may have against petitioners.  Therefore, she argues, she
is unable to vindicate her statutory rights in arbitration.
See Brief for Respondent 29–30.

It may well be that the existence of large arbitration
costs could preclude a litigant such as Randolph from
effectively vindicating her federal statutory rights in the
arbitral forum.  But the record does not show that
Randolph will bear such costs if she goes to arbitration.
Indeed, it contains hardly any information on the matter.6
— — — — — —

6 In Randolph’s Motion for Reconsideration in the District Court, she
asserted that “[a]rbitration costs are high” and that she did not have
the resources to arbitrate.  But she failed to support this assertion.  She
first acknowledged that petitioners had not designated a particular
arbitration association or arbitrator to resolve their dispute.  Her
subsequent discussion of costs relied entirely on unfounded assump-
tions.  She stated “[f]or the purposes of this discussion, we will assume
filing with the [American Arbitration Association], the filing fee is $500
for claims under $10,000 and this does not include the cost of the
arbitrator or administrative fees.”  Randolph relied on, and attached as
an exhibit what appears to be informational material from the Ameri-
can Arbitration Association that does not discuss the amount of filing
fees.  She then noted “[The American Arbitration Association] further
cites $700 per day as the average arbitrator’s fee.”  For this proposition
she cited a article in the Daily Labor Report, February 15, 1996, pub-
lished by the Bureau of National Affairs, entitled Labor Lawyers at
ABA Session Debate Role of American Arbitration Association.  Plain-
tiff’s Motion for Reconsideration, Record Doc. No. 53, pp. 8–9.  The
article contains a stray statement by an association executive that the
average arbitral fee is $700 per day.  Randolph plainly failed to make
any factual showing that the American Arbitration Association would
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As the Court of Appeals recognized, “we lack . . . informa-
tion about how claimants fare under Green Tree’s arbitra-
tion clause.”  178 F. 3d, at 1158.  The record reveals only
the arbitration agreement’s silence on the subject, and
that fact alone is plainly insufficient to render it unen-
forceable.  The “risk” that Randolph will be saddled with
prohibitive costs is too speculative to justify the invalida-
tion of an arbitration agreement.

To invalidate the agreement on that basis would un-
dermine the “liberal federal policy favoring arbitration
agreements.”  Moses H. Cone Memorial Hospital, 460 U. S.,
at 24.  It would also conflict with our prior holdings that
the party resisting arbitration bears the burden of proving
that the claims at issue are unsuitable for arbitration.  See
Gilmer, supra, at 26; McMahon, supra, at 227.  We have
held that the party seeking to avoid arbitration bears the
burden of establishing that Congress intended to preclude
arbitration of the statutory claims at issue.  See Gilmer,
supra; McMahon, supra.  Similarly, we believe that where,
as here, a party seeks to invalidate an arbitration agree-
ment on the ground that arbitration would be prohibi-
tively expensive, that party bears the burden of showing
the likelihood of incurring such costs.  Randolph did not
meet that burden.  How detailed the showing of prohibi-
tive expense must be before the party seeking arbitration
must come forward with contrary evidence is a matter we
— — — — — —
conduct the arbitration, or that, if it did, she would be charged the
filing fee or arbitrator’s fee that she identified.  These unsupported
statements provide no basis on which to ascertain the actual costs and
fees to which she would be subject in arbitration.

In this Court, Randolph’s brief lists fees incurred in cases involving
other arbitrations as reflected in opinions of other Courts of Appeals,
while petitioners’ counsel states that arbitration fees are frequently
waived by petitioners.  None of this information affords a sufficient
basis for concluding that Randolph would in fact have incurred sub-
stantial costs in the event her claim went to arbitration.
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need not discuss; for in this case neither during discovery
nor when the case was presented on the merits was there
any timely showing at all on the point.  The Court of Ap-
peals therefore erred in deciding that the arbitration
agreement’s silence with respect to costs and fees rendered
it unenforceable.7

The judgment of the Court of Appeals is affirmed in part
and reversed in part.

It is so ordered.

— — — — — —
7 We decline to reach respondent’s argument that we may affirm the

Court of Appeals’ conclusion that the arbitration agreement is unen-
forceable on the alternative ground that the agreement precludes
respondent from bringing her claims under the TILA as a class action.
See Brief for Respondent 39–48.  The Court of Appeals did not pass on
this question, and we need not decide here issues not decided below.
Roberts v. Galen of Va., Inc., 525 U. S. 249 (1999) (per curiam).


